MANCE

IN THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

No. 2006-CA-01497-COA

AZIKIWE KAMBULE

vs.

APR 2 9 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLANT GPOS 1 10005 pto

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi

Julie Ann Epps (MS Bar No 504 East Peace Street Canton, MS 39046 (601) 407-1410 facsimile (601) 407-1435

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

Statement of the Issue
Statement Regarding Oral Argument
Statement of the Case
Summary of the Argument
Law and Argument
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases: Trahan v. Estelle, 544 F.2d 1305 (5th Cir. 1977)......9 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003) 7 Articles: Flo Messier, Alien Defendants in Criminal Proceedings:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The trial court's determination that Kambule's guilty plea was voluntary and knowing was erroneous and should be reversed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Miss.R.App.P. 34(a). Appellant does not request oral argument in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Azikiwe Kambule entered a plea of guilty to accessory after the fact to murder and armed car jacking on June 11, 1997. He was sentenced on June 16, 2007, to five years for accessory after the fact and thirty years for the car jacking. The sentences were to run concurrently. C.P. 1-2.

On June 16, 2000, he filed a motion for post conviction relief asking the court to set aside the guilty plea on the grounds that it was not voluntary. CP. 4.

A hearing was held on May 23, 2005) before the Honorable Samac Richardson

Kambule brings the instant appeal. — TWO— WEST MED WEST MED TO THE STROME THAT WEST TO THE STROME THAT WE STROME THE STROME THE STROME THAT WE STROME THE STROME THAT WE STROME THE STROME THE STROME THAT WE STROME THE STROME THAT WE STROME THE S

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Azikiwe Kambule was a seventeen-year-old black South African who had the misfortune to be friend a troubled older youth. Santonio Berry. Kambule was with Berry in January 1996 when Berry decided to kidnap and kill a woman for her car.

Berry pleaded guilty to capital murder and was sentenced to life without parole. Kambule was offered a deal whereby he could plead to accessory after the

fact to murder and armed car jacking. While the prosecution recommended that Kambule be sentenced to the maximum on each charge – five years for accessory and thirty years for armed car jacking, Kambule's lawyers told him that based on their experience with the judge, they thought it likely that Kambule would be sentenced to less than the maximum on each charge. Kambule, as a black South African raised under apartheid, was not raised to question authority or, indeed, to believe that he had any rights under the law and, therefore, in every discussion with his lawyers, would ask them only what it is they would recommend. His lawyers, not realizing the vast cultural differences between a black apartheid-era South African youth and the average United States citizen, made no allowances for their client's extremely deferential attitude toward authority. Consequently, Kambule's guilty was neither knowing nor voluntary.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

The trial court's determination that Kambule's guilty plea was voluntary and knowing was erroneous and should be reversed.

Standard of review:

A claim of ineffectiveness of counsel is a mixed question of law and fact that is reviewed *de novo*. *Carter v. Johnson*, 110 F.3d 1098, 1110 (5th Cir.1997); *Salazar v. Johnson*, 96 F.3d 789, 791 (5th Cir.1996); *United States v. Faubion*, 19 F.3d 226, 228 (5th Cir.1994).

Law and argument:

Azikiwe Kambule was a seventeen-year-old from apartheid-era¹ South

Africa who had never been in trouble with the law. He fell in with an older youth,

Santonio Berry, who had had a troubled history. Berry had been kicked out of

Millsaps after he was alleged to have exhibited some strange behavior including

his having been accused of placing urine in his roommate's contact lens case.

Kambule was a passenger in Berry's car one evening in January 1996 when Berry spotted a car he desired. Berry followed the automobile to an apartment complex on County Line Road and when the driver of the vehicle, Pamela McGill,

Auss is a dist Standard of Review Cf Appelle Ir. 26

Apartheid in South Africa officially ended in 1994 when the first democratic elections were held. Kambule would have been approximately fifteen at that time.

got out of her car to check her mailbox, Berry kidnapped McGill and took her out into some woods off of North County Line Road. Berry, without Kambule, then marched McGill into the woods, had her kneel down, and shot her in the back of her head, killing her. *See Hearing on Petition to Plead Guilty, Ex. 1, p. 10.*Kambule has consistently maintained that he had no knowledge of what Berry was going to do and no one has claimed that Kambule participated in the killing of McGill. Indeed, when Kambule was arrested, he cooperated wholeheartedly with investigators. Unfortunately, because of his limited knowledge of Jackson, Kambule could not locate McGill's body for law enforcement although he attempted to do so.

Berry eventually pleaded guilty to capital murder. The state agreed to recommend a sentence of life without parole because there was some question as to whether the sheriff's office had violated Berry's constitutional rights by placing an informant in Berry's cell. After Berry received a sentence of life without parole, Kambule sought to have the death sentence removed as an option in his own case on the grounds that it would be disproportionate for Kambule to receive a death sentence when McGill's actual killer did not. The trial court granted Kambule's motion and the death penalty was removed as an option for Kambule. T. 28-29.

Thereafter, Kambule's lawyers. Chokwe Lumumba and Robert McDuff, got the prosecution to agree to allow Kambule to plead to accessory after the fact to murder and armed car jacking. The maximum sentence under Mississippi law

Kambuli's Ls below was five years for the accessory charge and thirty for the armed car jacking charge and the prosecution was pushing for the maximum punishment. T. 19, 34.

#

Kambule's attorneys encouraged him to accept the plea offer. In so doing, however, they told him that they believed that the judge would **not** impose the maximum sentence on him. T. 84. This was based on attorney Lumumba's previous experience before the judge as well as comments made to Lumumba by the courtroom bailiff. T. 84. Moreover, the defense called to the stand witnesses who testified that not only had Kambule never been in any trouble in the past but as to his general good character. His attorneys thought that this evidence would influence the judge to sentence Kambule to less than the maximum. But contrary to his attorneys' predictions, the trial court not only sentenced Kambule to the maximum sentence for each charge, he ordered that the sentences be served consecutively meaning that Kambule ended up with thirty-five years to serve.

At the hearing on Kambule's postconviction motion, Kambule's attorneys put forth evidence to show that as a black South African under apartheid, Kambule would have been hesitant to do anything but defer to his attorneys' recommendations. Indeed, Lumumba and McDuff testified that Kambule was exceedingly deferential. The only question he would ask of his lawyers was "what do you think". T. 46, 50. McDuff testified that he felt that Kambule was overwhelmed by his predicament. T. 47. He was much less engaged in the process than the many other defendants McDuff had represented over the years. T. 48. It seemed to Lumumba that Kambule was very dependent and, all along,

was merely acceding to his attorneys' recommendations without exercising any independent judgment or thought. T. 50.

The evidence demonstrated that as a young black South African whose entire life was spent under apartheid, Kambule was culturally conditioned to obey authority unquestioningly. T. 54-55. If his attorneys advised him to plead guilty, he would do so. T. 54. Psychological tests administered to Kambule showed that there were areas of weakness in his ability to fully appreciate all of the aspects of the American justice system. T. 59. For example, Kambule could not distinguish between a grand jury and a jury. T. 60. Moreover, Kambule believed that a person who pled guilty would still have an opportunity to convince the judge of his innocence. T. 61.

The testimony about Kambule's culture effecting his ability to not only comprehend the American legal system but to understand that that legal system gave him certain rights and choices is not surprising. "Social and behavioral norms of foreign-born persons are often outside the common-experience of nativeborn Americans." Flo Messier, *Alien Defendants in Criminal Proceedings:**Justice Shrugs*, 36 CRIMLR 1395, 1401 (1999). The failure of his attorneys and other court personnel to adapt the proceedings to make up for Kambule's cultural deficits rendered his attorneys ineffective and Kambule's resulting plea involuntary.

X

The clearly established Supreme Court precedent governing ineffective assistance of counsel claims is the two-pronged standard enunciated by *Strickland*

v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) and its progeny. See Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003). Under the first Strickland prong, a petitioner must demonstrate that "counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness," with reasonableness being judged under professional norms prevailing at the time counsel rendered assistance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Under the second Strickland prong, a petitioner must demonstrate "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's error the result would have been different." Id. at 687-96, 104 S.Ct. 2052. A"reasonable probability is a "probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

In the context of a guilty plea, a petitioner satisfies *Strickland's* prejudice prong by demonstrating that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability that he would have insisted on proceeding to trial instead of pleading guilty. *See Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, \$8, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985).

"One of the most precious applications of the Sixth Amendment may well be in affording counsel to advise a defendant concerning whether he should enter a plea of guilty." *Reed v. United States*, 354 F.2d 227, 229 (5th Cir.1965). "For a guilty plea to represent an informed choice so that it is constitutionally knowing and voluntary, the [c]ounsel must be familiar with the facts and the law in order to advise the defendant of the options available." *Finch v. Vaughn*, 67 F.3d 909, 916 (11th Cir. 1995) (alteration in original; internal quotation marks omitted).



It is the lawyer's duty to ascertain if the plea is entered voluntarily and knowingly. He must actually and substantially assist his client in deciding whether to plead guilty. It is his job to provide the accused an "understanding of the law in relation to the facts." The advice he gives need not be perfect, but it must be reasonably competent. His advice should permit the accused to make an informed and conscious choice. In other words, if the quality of counsel's service falls below a certain minimum level, the client's guilty plea cannot be knowing and voluntary because it will not represent an informed choice. And a lawyer who is not familiar with the facts and law relevant to his client's case cannot meet that required minimal level.

Herring v. Estelle, 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir.1974) (citations omitted).

"'[A] plea of guilty entered by one fully aware of the direct consequences, including the actual value of any commitments made to him by the court, prosecutor, or his own counsel, must stand unless induced by threats (or promises to discontinue improper harassment) misrepresentation (including unfulfilled or unfulfillable promises), or perhaps by promises that are by their nature improper as having no proper relationship to the prosecutor's business (e.g. bribes)."

Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 755, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 1472 (1970) (citations omitted).

rebras to "prierd"

The standard by which a court determines whether a defendant was prejudiced by his attorney's misstatements is whether the defendant was "erroneously induced to believe that she would benefit from pleading guilty."

United States v. Fuller, 769 F.2d 1095, 1098 (5th Cir.1985). If the defendant

believes that his guilty plea reduces his chances for a longer sentence but in fact

X

receives the maximum sentence allowable, then prejudice occurs. Id. at 1096-98. See also Cooks v. United States, 461 F.2d 530, 532 (5th Cir.1972).

In United States v. Rumery, 698 F.2d 764 (5th Cir.1983), the defendant's guilty plea was vacated where his counsel erroneously advised him that he could receive a sentence of thirty years and that by pleading guilty he would get only five years when the defendant only faced a five year sentence in the first place. Rumery, 698 F.2d at 766. "[A] guilty plea lacks the required voluntariness and

zryr differnu dishynnhubh

understanding if entered on advice of counsel that fails to meet the minimum

white the standards of effectiveness derived from the sixth and fourteenth amendments." Id. quoting Trahan v. Estelle, 544 F.2d 1305, 1309 (5th Cir. 1977). defendant is induced to plead guilty based on the erroneous advice of counsel, the plea is involuntary and unknowing. Rumery, 698 F.2d at 766. See also Pettis v. State, 212 S.W.3d 189, 194-95 (Mo.App. 2007) (defense counsel's affirmative statement during sentencing that defendant's release date would be "pushed back," did not conform to the degree of skill, care, and diligence of a reasonably

In this case, Kambule's guilty plea suffered from two deficiencies. First of all, no one, including his own attorneys, took into account Kambule's cultural background. As a black South African under apartheid, Kambule was wholly unaware that he had certain rights and that he alone had the responsibility to make choices vis-a-vis those rights. Instead, as the facts demonstrate, Kambule did as he was culturally conditioned to do and accepted unquestioningly his attorneys'

competent attorney and thus constituted ineffective assistance of counsel).

recommendation that he plead guilty. Furthermore, his attorneys advised Kambule that if he were to plead guilty, the judge was likely to sentence him to something less than the maximum sentence. Inasmuch as Kambule relied on this advice in pleading guilty and this advice turned out to be wrong, Kambule's plea was not knowing and voluntary and he should be allowed to withdraw that plea.

Conclusion

For the above and foregoing reasons, Azikiwe Kambule's guilty plea and sentence must be vacated and his case remanded.