IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AZIKIWE KAMBULE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2006-CA-1497-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI



APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LISA L. BLOUNT

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Azikiwe Kambule (hereinafter "Kambule") was indicted for capital murder with the State seeking the death penalty. After negotiations, Kambule pleaded guilty in the Circuit Court of Madison County to one (1) count of accessory after the fact of murder and one (1) count of armed car jacking. Kambule received five (5) years for the accessory and a consecutive thirty (30) years for the armed car jacking. Nearly three (3) years later, Kambule filed for post conviction relief claiming his guilty pleas were not voluntary. After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court, Honorable Samac Richardson presiding, denied Kambule's request for post conviction relief. This appeal proceeds from that denial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 16, 1997, Azikiwe Kambule, age 17, was indicted for the offense of capital murder, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(E), for aiding and assisting, Santonio Berry, in the January 25, 1996, death of Pamela McGill during the course of her kidnaping. The State sought the death penalty. (PCR Transcript Exhibit 7)

Santonio Berry, also indicted for capital murder with the death penalty, entered a guilty plea on February 6, 1997, and received a life sentence without parole. Thereafter, defense counsel, Robert McDuff and Chokwe Lumumba, filed a motion to bar the State from seeking the death penalty against Kambule. The court, in granting the defense motion, reasoned that Kambule should not receive a harsher sentence than Berry, the actual gunman.

As a result of plea negotiations, Kambule pleaded guilty to the lesser offenses of accessory after the fact to murder and armed car jacking; the State agreed to *nolle prosequi* without prejudice the capital murder charge and recommend a sentence of five (5) years on the accessory charge and a consecutive thirty (30) years on the armed car jacking charge. The *nolle prosequi* was without prejudice to re-indict Kambule if he, at any time, collaterally attacked the convictions or sentences. (Exhibit "A"). On June 11, 1997, by way of Bill of Information, Kambule petitioned the court to enter a guilty plea to the charges of accessory after the fact of murder and armed car jacking. (Exhibits "B" and "C"). The court, Honorable John Toney presiding, accepted the plea as voluntarily, knowingly and validly made. (Plea transcript 21).

A sentencing hearing was held June 16, 1997, Honorable Robert Goza presiding. Kambule offered character witnesses in an attempt to persuade the trial court to sentence him to less than the thirty-five (35) years recommended by the State. However, the court followed the State's recommendation and sentenced Kambule to five (5) years in the Department of Corrections on the

accessory charge and thirty (30) years on the armed car jacking charge, with the sentences to run consecutively. (PCR Transcript Ex. 2).

On June 16, 2000, Kambule filed a motion for post conviction relief asking the court to set aside the guilty pleas on the ground that the pleas were not knowing or voluntary. (CP4). Kambule claims he unquestioningly accepted his attorneys' advice to plead guilty because he was seventeen (17) at the time of the crime (almost nineteen at the time of his guilty pleas) and a child from a South African apartheid culture.

A post conviction relief evidentiary hearing was held on May 23, 2005, before Honorable Samac Richardson, who denied the relief requested. (Exhibit "D"). (Part of the hearing transcript is absent from the record before this Court and not available to the State.) Richardson found that Kambule was represented by competent counsel during all pretrial proceedings, the guilty plea and sentencing hearings. Further, the court found that Kambule failed to provide sufficient evidence to prove that his plea was not freely, voluntarily and intelligently made. (CP 34; RE 9). Kambule now appeals and presents the following issue:

Whether the trial court's determination that Kambule's guilty plea was voluntary and knowing was erroneous and should be reversed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Kambule was well informed of the charges against him and the consequences of his guilty plea. No error existed in the taking of Kambule's guilty plea as indicated in the record. Kambule's guilty plea is not rendered involuntary because he is from a different cultural background.

At the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, Judge Sumac Richardson applied the correct legal standard and found as fact that Kambule failed to present evidence which met the burden of proof to show that Kambule did not freely, voluntarily and intelligently enter his guilty plea and that there was no evidence presented that supports his allegation his attorneys' representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

Robert McDuff and Chokwe Lumumba, Kambule's trial counsel, were not deficient in their representation and in relation to entry of his guilty pleas. Counsel could not have rendered ineffective assistance, where the client was indicted for capital murder and facing life imprisonment without parole but was ultimately sentenced to thirty-five (35) years for accessory after the fact of murder and armed car jacking.

The findings of fact by the trial judge that defense counsels' conduct was not constitutionally deficient and that Kambule's plea was voluntary and intelligently made should stand. The trial judge's denial of the motion for post conviction relief should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED KAMBULE'S PETITION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF, FINDING THAT KAMBULE'S GUILTY PLEA WAS FREELY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTELLIGENTLY MADE AND THAT HE WAS REPRESENTED BY COMPETENT COUNSEL. KAMBULE FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION IN DENYING HIS PETITION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

The trial court properly denied Kambule's petition for post-conviction relief, finding that Kambule's guilty plea was freely, voluntarily and intelligently made and that he was represented by competent counsel. Kambule failed to show that the trial court's decision in denying his petition for post-conviction relief was clearly erroneous.

The trial court properly denied Kambule's petition for post-conviction relief, finding that Kambule's guilty plea was freely, voluntarily and intelligently made and that he was represented by competent counsel. Kambule failed to show that the trial court's decision in denying his petition for post conviction relief was clearly erroneous.

A plea of guilty is binding only if it is entered voluntarily and intelligently. *Myers v. State*, 583 Sol2d 174, 177 (Miss. 1991). A plea of guilty is voluntary and intelligent when the defendant is informed of the charges against him and the consequences of his guilty plea. *Alexander v. State* 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss.1992). The standard of review pertaining to voluntariness of guilty pleas is well settled: "this Court will not set aside findings of a trial court siting without a jury unless such findings are clearly erroneous." *Roby v. State*, 861 So.2d 368, 369 (citing *Weatherspoon v. State*, 736 So.2d 419, 421 (Miss.Ct.App.199). The burden of proving that a guilty plea was involuntary is on the defendant and must be proven by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.*

In making the decision to deny Kambule's petition for post-conviction relief, the circuit court heard testimony of witnesses and argument from counsel, and reviewed the pleadings from Kambule's criminal case and post-conviction case. A trial court's denial of post-conviction relief will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. *Davis v. State*, 973 So.2d 1040, 1042 (Miss.App.2008) citing *Smith v. State*, 806 So.2d 1148, 1150(¶ 3) (Miss.Ct.App.2002). However, when issues of law are raised, the proper standard of review is de novo. *Brown v. State*, 731 So.2d 595, 598(¶ 6) (Miss.1999).

Kambule first implies that his guilty pleas to accessory after the fact to murder and armed car jacking are invalid because they were not knowingly and voluntarily made. Kambule bases his argument on the fact that he was a youth from apartheid-era South Africa who was "culturally conditioned to obey authority unquestionably."(Appellant's Brief).

In order for a guilty plea to meet constitutional requirements, it must represent a knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver of the defendant's constitutional rights. *Bolton v. State*, 831 So.2d 1184 (Miss.App. 2002) (citing *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969)). It must be shown that the defendant knew of his right to confront his accusers, his right

to a jury trial, and his right against compulsory self-incrimination. *Id.* at 243, 89 S.Ct. 1709. Moreover, a guilty plea is voluntary when the defendant understands, and is properly informed, of the elements of the charge(s) against him and the possible sentence. *Alexander v. State*, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss.1992) (citing *Wilson v. State*, 577 So.2d 394, 396-97 (Miss.1991)).

Kambule intelligently, knowingly, and voluntarily signed the petitions to plead guilty and offered his guilty pleas to the court. A review of the transcript of the June 11, 1997, hearing with the Honorable John Toney presiding, shows the court inquired into Kambule's understanding of the constitutional rights that he was waiving and desire to waive each right. (Plea transcript 4-6). At the plea hearing Kambule denied that he had been threatened or coerced into making the guilty plea, or that, excepting the State's agreement to *nolle prosse* the capital murder charge and recommendation of thirty-five (35) years, he had been promised favorable treatment in exchange for the plea. (Plea transcript 8). Judge Toney questioned Kambule about his understanding of the charges pending against him and the minimum and maximum sentence he could receive if convicted. (Plea transcript 7).

In short, there is a lack of evidence that Kambule could not or did not understand, or lacked knowledge of the legal proceedings in this case. Judge Toney questioned him extensively regarding the constitutional rights he was giving up, his knowledge of both the crimes charged and the consequences of pleading guilty to those crimes. (Plea transcript 2-13)

After a thorough inquiry, Judge Toney found Kambule's guilty pleas voluntarily and intelligently given and that there was a factual basis to support the charge. (Plea transcript 21). Therefore, Kambule's argument that his guilty plea was not voluntary is totally without merit. Kambule failed to that the trial court's denial of post-conviction relief was clearly erroneous. Kambule next asserts that he was afforded ineffective assistance of counsel. Kambule claims that

the failure of his attorneys and other court personnel to adapt the proceedings to make up for Kambule's cultural deficits rendered his attorneys ineffective and Kambule's resulting pleas involuntary. (Appellant's Brief 6). Kambule also claims Mr. McDuff and Mr. Lumumba told him "they believed that the judge would **not** impose the maximum sentence on him." (*Id.* at 5).

In support of this argument, Kambule cites *United States v. Rumery*, 698 F.2d 764 (5th Cir.1983). In *Rumery*, the defendant's guilty plea was vacated after it was determined his counsel erroneously advised him as to the possible sentence. However, in *Rumery*, defense counsel made a misstatement of the law to his client, such is not the case here.

The standard for determining whether or not a defendant was afforded effective assistance of counsel was set out by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). We review claims of ineffective assistance of counsel based upon a two-part inquiry: (1) whether counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) whether that deficiency caused prejudice to the defendant. Deficient performance is evaluated by whether counsel's advice falls outside objective parameters of professional reasonableness. *Id.* at 687-88. Prejudice is measured by whether the result of the proceedings would have been different but for counsel's deficiency. *Cole v. State*, 666 So.2d 767, 775 (Miss. 1995)

Kambule fails the first prong of the *Strickland* test. There is no indication in the record that defense counsels' performance fell below the standards as defined by *Strickland*. In fact, the record supports the exact opposite. Defense counsels' representation was more than competent as evidenced in part by the number and content of the pretrial motions they filed and their argument at various hearings.

At his plea hearing, Kambule testified that he was "satisfied with the advice and help" Mr. McDuff and Mr. Lumumba had given him. (Plea transcript 7). In his petitions to enter a plea of

guilty, Kambule expressed complete satisfaction with the advice and help given by his attorneys. (Exhibits B &C paragraph 12).

During the plea hearing, Mr. McDuff told the court there was sufficient evidence for Kambule to be found guilty as charged as a principal in the armed car jacking and also to accessory after the fact. McDuff also felt there was a substantial probability that Kambule would be convicted on both charges. (Plea transcript 11-12).

This Court held in *Blanch v. State*, 760 So.2d 820 (Miss.App.,2000) that counsel for defendant did not render ineffective assistance by advising the client to accept a guilty plea, absent any supporting evidence that the defendant was in some way coerced into taking a plea or had some defense to the crimes charged, and in light of the fact that when questioned by the trial court regarding his representation, defendant stated that he was completely and totally satisfied with his representation.

A defense attorney has a duty to fairly, even if that means pessimistically, inform his client of the likely outcome of a trial based upon the facts of the case. If, after assessing the case, counsel believes that his client's best interest would be served by accepting a plea, he is obliged to inform the client. *Polk County v. Dodson*, 454 U.S. 312, 318, 102 S.Ct. 445, 70 L.Ed.2d 509 (1981). Such was the case here, McDuff and Lumumba made Kambule aware of the likelihood of the State's success at trial. Knowing the applicable law and the facts the prosecution could prove at trial, defense counsel advised their client to plead guilty to lesser offenses instead of risking being convicted of capital murder by a jury and serving the rest of his life in prison without any possibility of parole. That is not ineffective assistance of counsel, that is representing the client as they are obligated to do and falls within the range of reasonable professional assistance.

This court and the Mississippi Supreme Court have previously held:

Great weight is given to statements made under oath and in open court during sentencing. The trial court is right to place great emphasis upon the statements under oath made..in open court during the taking of ...guilty pleas and sentencing. There should be a strong presumption of validity of anyone's statement under oath. Sanchez v. State, 913 So.2d 1024, 1027 (¶8) (Miss.Ct.App.2005) (internal citations omitted); Mowdy v. State, 638 So.2d 738, 743 (Miss.1994) (affirmed trial court's denial of petitioner's motion for post-conviction relief without a hearing because petitioners' claims were contradicted by previous sworn statements).

Kambule acknowledged under oath that he was aware of the possibility that he could receive up to thirty-five (35) years; that he was satisfied with his attorneys, and that any promises by his attorneys of a lighter sentence were not binding on the court. (Plea transcript 2-13).

Mr. McDuff and Mr. Lumumba did not give Kambule erroneous information regarding his potential sentence. Defense counsel only expressed their opinion as to the length of sentence Judge Goza might give; that defense counsels' opinion turned out to be incorrect does not make an otherwise valid plea involuntary.

Kambule's pleas were both knowing and voluntary. He was not denied the effective assistance of counsel because counsels' performances, contrary to Kambule's present position, were neither deficient nor did any deficiency prejudice Kambule.

CONCLUSION

The record and transcript from Kambule's plea hearing show a careful inquiry by the trial court into Kambule's understanding of his constitutional rights, his desire to waive those rights in order to plead guilty as well as his satisfaction with the services and advice rendered by his counsel. Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the judgment of the Circuit Court of Madison County denying Kambule's motion for post conviction relief.